RACGP submission: Equitable access to diagnosis and treatment for individuals with rare and less common cancers, including neuroendocrine cancer

September 2023





Table of contents

1. About the RACGP	3
2. Summary of RACGP recommendations	3
3. Introduction	3
3.1 GP scope of practice	4
3.2 GPs ensure routine preventive activities and chronic disease management is not overlooked.	4
3.3 GP funding for cancer care	4
3.4 Shared care models	5
4. Response to the Inquiry terms of reference	5
4.1 Barriers to screening and diagnosis of rare and less common cancers	5
4.1.1 The lack of point-of-care, accessible clinical information for GPs with local pathways for rare and common cancers.	less 5
4.1.2 Education and research funding for rare and less common cancers.	5
4.1.3 Specific populations face discrimination and lack of local access to screening and diagnosis serv	vices. 6
4.2 Barriers to accessing appropriate treatment.	6
4.2.1 The availability and expense of medication for rare cancers.	6
4.2.2 Care pathways	7
4.3 Adequacy of support services after diagnosis.	7
4.3.1 The provision of cancer care coordination is unfunded in general practice.	7
4.3.2 Specific populations in Australia face additional barriers to treatment for rare cancers.	7
4.4 The adequacy of Commonwealth funding for research into rare, less common and neuroendocrine canc	er. 7
4.5 Other related matters.	8
5. Conclusion	8
6 References	8



1. About the RACGP

The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP) is the voice of general practitioners (GPs) in our growing cities and throughout rural and remote Australia. For more than 60 years, we have supported the backbone of Australia's health system by setting the standards for education and practice and advocating for better health and wellbeing for all Australians.

As a national peak body representing over 46,000 members working in or towards a career in general practice, our core commitment is to support GPs from across the entirety of general practice address the primary healthcare needs of the Australian population.

We cultivate a stronger profession by helping the GPs of today and tomorrow continue their professional development throughout their careers, from medical students and GPs in training to experienced GPs. We develop resources and guidelines to support GPs in providing their patients with world-class healthcare and help with the unique issues that affect their practices. We are a point of connection for GPs serving communities in every corner of the country.

Patient-centred care is at the heart of every Australian general practice, and at the heart of everything we do.

2. Summary of RACGP recommendations

Recommendation 1 – GPs are supported and funded to deliver evidence-based and coordinated care to patients with complex health issues and shared-care models are supported

Recommendation 2 – Increased funding for HealthPathways to include guidance on rare and less common cancers, with point-of-care information on assessment, diagnosis and local referral pathways.

Recommendation 3 – Increase funding for clinical research into the symptoms and diagnosis of rare and less common cancers.

Recommendation 4 – Funding to scope and research into the feasibility of an urgent cancer referral system in Australia that includes people with suspected rare and less common cancers.

Recommendation 5 – Work in consultation with specific population groups to develop strategies that most effectively address discrimination and access barriers for rare cancer diagnosis.

Recommendation 6 – Provide further incentives for pharmaceutical companies to bring treatments for rare cancers to market more quickly.

Recommendation 7 - Bolster support for the Optimal Care Pathways to include rare and uncommon cancers.

Recommendation 8 – Work in consultation with specific population groups to develop appropriate support services that meet the needs of specific populations diagnosed with rare cancer.

Recommendation 9 – Develop a national cancer data ecosystem.

3. Introduction

The RACGP thanks the Senate Standing Committees on Community Affairs for the opportunity to provide a submission for the *Inquiry into Equitable access to diagnosis and treatment for individuals with rare and less common cancers, including neuroendocrine cancer.* Our submission strongly advocates for the important role of the GP in the diagnosis, screening, treatment and care coordination of people with a rare cancer.

Rare conditions, combined, are relatively common in Australia, with an estimated 8% of the population having a rare condition. Rare cancer types collectively comprise around a fifth of all cancer diagnoses in Australia, with a quarter of cancer-related deaths between 2007 and 2016 attributed to a rare cancer¹. As GPs see 90% of the Australian population in a year^{2,3}, they will often care for and manage patients who have rare conditions, including rare cancers.



As expert generalists in the Australian health system, GPs provide a vital role in the diagnosis, holistic management and care coordination of patients diagnosed with a rare cancer. As indicated in the National Strategic Action Plan for Rare Diseases, GPs are one of the key initial points of contact for people with rare diseases, and the active involvement and inclusion of the patient's GP in the care of people with cancer ultimately improves the quality of care that patients receive.

3.1 GP scope of practice

GPs are highly trained generalist specialists who work with patients at every stage of their healthcare. The holistic, patient-centred, and relationship-based approach of general practice ensures the effective delivery of care and treatment. GPs are often the anchor within a multi-disciplinary team of health professionals delivering high-quality healthcare for patients. As expert generalists, GPs work across a broad scope of practice and seek relevant education to gain the knowledge and skills they need to serve the needs of their patient populations⁴.

The role of the GP in cancer care encompasses:

- <u>Screening, testing and diagnosis</u> GPs are usually the first port of call for patients for any health conditions, new symptoms, or when patients are due for a routine screening test. Diagnosing rare conditions is often complex and requires significant time investment.
- <u>Active treatment and management of cancer and other chronic conditions</u> GPs are a key member of shared care teams. They provide a coordinated approach to whole-person care, including ensuring that other preventive and chronic health issues are managed alongside the patient's cancer treatment. This also includes providing care, support and information for the patient's family.
- <u>Survivorship</u> GPs continue to provide support for cancer survivors through the coordination of cancer survivorship care, chronic disease management, and secondary prevention.
- <u>End-of-life care</u> GPs support their patients through end-of-life care. Patients in rural areas of Australia are particularly reliant on their GP for end-of-life care.

3.2 GPs ensure routine preventive activities and chronic disease management is not overlooked.

It is essential that other common health conditions and preventive screens are not overlooked when the treatment and management of cancer is the main focus. GPs are best placed to undertake this work, and it is important that patients with cancer are encouraged to continue to see their GP during their treatment, so that they don't miss out on other important health activities, such as:

- management of chronic disease and/or comorbidities (such as diabetes, asthma)
- routine screening and preventive activities
- management and support for the patient's mental health (particularly if the patient has been diagnosed with a rare cancer where local support groups may not be available).

3.3 GP funding for cancer care

General practice is the cornerstone of the Australian health system because it is accessible and affordable for patients, but the complex and important GP role is often not well-supported. While the Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS) fee-for-service structures work well for an individual patient's face-to-face care, current MBS funding levels reward short, episodic care, rather than long-term management of complex and chronic diseases.

The MBS also does not effectively support collaborative team-based approaches to care. Current MBS arrangements fail to adequately support direct communication between members of the healthcare team leading to an over reliance on periodic letters or waiting for MBS-funded consultation visits⁴.

Patient care coordination is also not funded under this system. For example, when GPs receive test results from pathology providers, time is required to review reports, to compare and update screening records. For rare cancers, this coordination work requires further research, analysis and liaison with other health professionals involved in the patient's care.



The RACGP advocates for investment in the MBS and the introduction of blended payment models to better support longer complex consultations and collaborative shared care models⁵.

3.4 Shared care models

A Shared Care Model is where there is joint responsibility for planned care that is agreed between healthcare providers, the patient and any carers. Benefits of the Shared Care Model include improved quality and continuity between services, reductions in hospital admissions, cost savings to the health system, improved patient health outcomes, higher levels of follow-up care and patient adherence to treatment⁴.

Patients do not do well in fragmented systems, characterised by a siloed sub-specialised workforce. Investment in shared care models, which enable GPs and other health professionals in the team to work collaboratively at the top of their existing scopes of practice, have proven to be effective. GPs, with their existing training in differential diagnoses and care coordination, work well in supported shared care models. Furthermore, local and international evidence shows that better support for, and use of, general practice is associated with lower emergency department presentations and hospital use⁶⁻¹⁰, decreased hospital re-admission rates¹¹, health benefits for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities^{12,13} and significant savings for the healthcare system¹⁴⁻¹⁶.

Existing barriers in shared care need to be addressed so people with rare cancers can benefit from GPs working in coordination with non-GP specialist teams to manage their condition⁴. The importance of shared care pathways cannot be more highly emphasised, good communication and information exchange will ensure improved care coordination and continuity between services. Health professionals alone cannot bring about sustainable change without health system improvements to support them. Appropriate funding and adequate support for shared multidisciplinary care will deliver better quality and cost-effective care to patients⁴.

Recommendation 1 – GPs are supported and funded to deliver evidence-based and coordinated care to patients with complex health issues and shared-care models are supported.

4. Response to the Inquiry terms of reference

4.1 Barriers to screening and diagnosis of rare and less common cancers

4.1.1 The lack of point-of-care, accessible clinical information for GPs with local pathways for rare and less common cancers.

GPs are the first point-of-contact for initial investigations and referrals for most people with rare and less common cancers. There is currently a lack of supportive and easily accessible clinical information and local pathways for rare and less common cancers available for GPs at the point-of-care. The process to diagnose a rare and less common cancer can be time-consuming and complex, therefore, it is essential that the existing systems in primary care are boosted to support GPs in this process.

Enabling GPs to have easy access to accurate, locally relevant information will assist them in making an early diagnosis, providing optimal management and support, and advocating for patient and their families living with a rare and less common cancer¹⁷. HealthPathways is a system developed through <u>Primary Health Networks</u> (PHNs) to be used during consultations, with links to clinical guidance for assessing and managing a patient with a particular symptom or condition. HealthPathways also provides locally relevant information on referrals to existing services and specialists.

Given the impracticability of providing comprehensive education and keeping up to date on changing guidance of all the rare and less common cancers, a cost-effective option is to expand these existing systems to include current clinical guidance on rare and less common cancers, with local referral information to GPs and primary care teams when required.

Recommendation 2 – HealthPathways to include guidance on rare and less common cancers, with point-of-care information on assessment, diagnosis and local referral pathways.

4.1.2 Education and research funding for rare and less common cancers.



Patients who present to general practice early in their illness usually have ambiguous symptoms that will typically have more common benign explanations, with the connections between the symptoms not yet clear ¹⁸. Rare and less common cancers do not have clear symptom signatures and individual symptoms have low positive predictive values. Consequently, many patients will visit their GP multiple times as their symptoms evolve, before the diagnosis is made. Additionally, there is currently a lack of sufficiently sensitive and specific screening tests suitable for use in the general population. As such, it will be difficult to identify individuals who are at high risk of many rare cancers to institute regular surveillance and asymptomatic detection.

Further research into rare and less common cancers will assist in providing further information that will help with the identifying risk factors, enabling faster diagnosis of these conditions, and possibly over time, leading to the development of targeted and accurate screening and testing.

The United Kingdom has a two-week urgent referral system for suspected cancer, along with overall diagnostics, management plan and treatment (if required) within 16 weeks. Further scoping and research should be undertaken to ascertain as to whether this would be successful in an Australian context, and if so, ensuring that adequate resources and investment are provided.

Recommendation 3 – Increase funding for clinical research into the symptoms and diagnosis of rare and less common cancers.

Recommendation 4 – Provide funding to scope and research into the feasibility of an urgent cancer referral system in Australia that includes people with suspected rare and less common cancers.

4.1.3 Specific populations face discrimination and lack of local access to screening and diagnosis services.

As highlighted in the Terms of Reference, specific Australian populations face discrimination and accessibility issues for screening and diagnosis services. This provides additional barriers to the screening and diagnosis of rare cancers. These groups include:

- · Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people
- LGBTIQA+ people
- People living in rural and regional areas
- People with disability
- People of a lower-socioeconomic background
- People from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds

For example, for LGBTIQA+ people, access to screening is reduced due to the gendered nature of services. Additionally, in trans and gender-diverse people, there are 'common' cancers that are rarely seen or suspected, for example, ovarian cancer in trans men, prostate cancer in trans women¹⁹.

Similarly, systemic and institutional racism can create conditions in which Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander patients do not receive appropriate, timely and respectful care. Previous discrimination may also impact willingness to seek out healthcare²⁰.

Recommendation 5 – Work in consultation with specific population groups to develop strategies that most effectively address discrimination and access barriers for rare cancer diagnosis.

4.2 Barriers to accessing appropriate treatment.

4.2.1 The availability and expense of medication for rare cancers.

The five-year survival for rare cancer cases between 2007 and 2016 was 53.2%, which is much lower than for common cancers (79.3%)¹, and is partly the result of lack of treatment options.

Pharmaceutical companies are often reluctant to invest in the development and trialling medication that will likely only benefit a small market¹⁷. As a result, drugs development does not occur, and when they are developed, are often expensive and can be cost-prohibitive for the patient¹⁷, particularly for patients of lower socioeconomic status.



While Australia has adopted an <u>orphan drug designation</u> to provide incentives for pharmaceutical companies to bring these drugs to market more quickly, few such drugs have been registered in Australia¹⁷.

4.2.2 Care pathways

The Optimal Care Pathways provide clear referral pathways for common cancers, to ensure that all Australians receive consistent and high-quality care. These Pathways should also include rare and uncommon cancers. The Pathways are particularly effective for people in lower socioeconomic groups and/or those at higher risk. The ability to provide electronic referrals into cancer care services should underpin quick and efficient referral processes.

Recommendation 6 – Provide further incentives for pharmaceutical companies to bring treatments for rare cancers to market more quickly.

Recommendation 7 – Bolster support for the Optimal Care Pathways to include rare and uncommon cancers.

4.3 Adequacy of support services after diagnosis.

4.3.1 The provision of cancer care coordination is unfunded in general practice.

Cancer care and care coordination requires complex discussions and a shared decision-making approach with patients of varying levels of health literacy. This is particularly the case if patients have a rare cancer where there may a lack of support available. The work undertaken by GPs in these consultations includes:

- discussing the potential benefits and harms of treatments,
- managing other complex chronic conditions for people with a rare cancer diagnosis,
- managing the mental health of the patient, family and carers,
- discussing Advance Care Directives with the patient, family and carers.

This complex work involves a multidisciplinary team including the GP, nurses, Aboriginal Health Practitioners and pharmacists, alongside hospital treating teams and other specialists. This complex coordination of care is currently unfunded for GPs.

4.3.2 Specific populations in Australia face additional barriers to treatment for rare cancers.

Similarly, as per the section on barriers to screening and diagnosis of rare cancers, specific populations in Australia also face additional barriers for treatment. This includes:

- Geographic barriers¹ particularly for patients in rural and remote areas where access to treatment for any type
 of cancer requires prolonged stays away from home, family, friends and other support systems¹.
- Financial barriers such as the cost of treatment and needing to take time off work (particularly for people with insecure work with little to no sick leave)
- Discrimination due to race²⁰
- Discrimination due to sexuality and/or gender identity¹⁹ LGBTIQA+ people report that their partners are not included as part of their treatment, leaving them without access to their most important support.
- Discrimination due to disability²¹ may result in unequal outcomes.

Recommendation 8 – Work in consultation with specific population groups to develop appropriate support services that meet the needs of specific populations diagnosed with rare cancer.

4.4 The adequacy of Commonwealth funding for research into rare, less common and neuroendocrine cancer.

In our submission to the Australian Cancer Plan 2023-2033²², RACGP supported the proposal for a national cancer data ecosystem. Most patients are currently unlikely to have knowledge of specific clinical trials, so this may help identify and increase participation in relevant trials. Participation in such trials ensures a similar standard of care is accessible for all



people with cancer. It is important that research needs to include and be accessible to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders, LGBTIQA+ people, rural and remote people, low socioeconomic people and people with disability.

Recommendation 9 – Develop a national cancer data ecosystem.

4.5 Other related matters.

RACGP's Guideline for preventive activities in general practice (the Red book)

The RACGP is currently updating the <u>Guidelines for preventive activities in general practice 9th edition</u> (the Red book). This guideline includes evidence-based recommendations on cancer prevention and cancer screening activities for Australians across all ages of the lifecycle.

These guidelines do not receive any public funding but are critical source of advice to GPs and other health professionals. Public funding would enable the RACGP to invest greater resources in the development and implementation of the guidelines recommendations.

Coordinated public health campaigns can also be valuable in raising public awareness of the importance of preventive activities. This could be done alongside policy development and economic modelling for

- providing incentives for agriculture and retail to promote fruit and vegetables;
- promoting the reduction of alcohol consumption;
- A taxation on sugar

5. Conclusion

The RACGP looks forward to crucial and much needed systemic changes to improve the health and wellbeing of people diagnosed with rare cancers and less common cancers. The RACGP once again thanks the Australian Government for the opportunity to provide this submission.

For any enquiries regarding this submission, please contact Stephan Groombridge, National Manager, Practice Management, Standards & Quality Care on 03 8699 0544 or stephan.groombridge@racgp.org.au.

6. References

- 1. Dasgupta, P, Cameron, JK, Cramb, SM, et al. Geographical and spatial disparities in the incidence and survival of rare cancers in Australia. Int J Cancer. 2023; 152(8): 1601-1612. doi:10.1002/ijc.34395
- 2. Australian Government. Department of Health and Aged Care. Statistics under Medicare. 2022. Available at https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/ Medicare%20Statistics-1.
- 3. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. General practice Health of the Nation 2022. East Melbourne, Vic: RACGP, 2022. Available at: https://www.racgp.org.au/general-practice-health-of-the-nation-2022.
- 4. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Shared Care Model between GP and non-GP specialists for complex chronic conditions position statement. East Melbourne, Vic: RACGP, 2023. Available at: https://www.racgp.org.au/advocacy/position-statements/view-all-position-statements/clinical-and-practice-management/shared-care-model-between-gp-and-non-gp-specialist
- 5. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Vision for general practice and a sustainable healthcare system. East Melbourne, Vic: RACGP, 2019.
- 6. Pereira Gray DJ, Sidaway-Lee K, White E, Thorne A, Evans PH. Continuity of care with doctors A matter of life and death? A systematic review of continuity of care and mortality. BMJ Open 2018;8(6):e021161-e
- Barker I, Steventon A, Deeny SR. Association between continuity of care in general practice and hospital admissions for ambulatory care sensitive conditions: Cross sectional study of routinely collected, person level data. BMJ (Clinical Research Ed) 2017;356:j84-j.
- 8. Barker I, Steventon A, Deeny SR. Association between continuity of care in general practice and hospital admissions for ambulatory care sensitive conditions: Cross sectional study of routinely collected, person level data. BMJ (Clinical Research Ed) 2017;356;i84-i.
- 9. Nagree Y, Camarda VJ, Fatovich DM, et al. Quantifying the proportion of general practice and low-acuity patients in the emergency department. Med J Aust 2013;198(11):612–15
- Steering Committee for the Review of Government Service Provision. Report on government services. Canberra: Productivity Commission, 2018.



- 11. Shen E, Koyama SY, Huynh DN, et al. Association of a dedicated post-hospital discharge follow-up visit and 30- day readmission risk in a Medicare advantage population. JAMA Intern Med 2017;177(1):132–35
- Zhao Y, Thomas SL, Guthridge SL, Wakerman J. Better health outcomes at lower costs: The benefits of primary care utilisation for chronic disease management in remote Indigenous communities in Australia's Northern Territory. BMC Health Serv Res 2014;14:463
- Dalton APA, Lal A, Mohebbi M, Carter PR. Economic evaluation of the Indigenous Australians' Health Programme Phase I. Burwood, Vic: Deakin University, 2018.
- 14. Baird B, Reeve H, Ross S, et al. Innovative models of general practice. London: The King's Fund, 2018.
- 15. World Health Organization. The world health report 2008: Primary health care now more than ever. Geneva: WHO, 2008
- 16. Engstrom S, Foldevi M, Borgquist L. Is general practice effective? A systematic literature review. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2001 Jun;19(2):131-44.
- 17. Elliott E, Zurynski Y. Rare diseases are a 'common' problem for clinicians. Aust Fam Physician. 2015 Sep;44(9):630-3. PMID: 26488039
- 18. General Practice Supervisors Australia. Managing Uncertainty in General Practice. 2017. Available at: https://gpsa.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Guide_Managing-Uncertainty_Digital.pdf
- Cancer Council of New South Wales. LGBTQI+ People and Cancer: A guide for people with cancer, their families and friends. NSW: Cancer Council NSW, 2023. Available at: https://www.cancercouncil.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/LGBTQI-People-and-Cancer-2023.pdf
- 20. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Racism in the healthcare system position statement. East Melbourne, Vic: RACGP, 2018. Available at: https://www.racgp.org.au/advocacy/position-statements/view-all-position-statements/health-systems-and-environmental/racism-in-the-healthcare-sector
- Hughes RB, Robinson-Whelen S, Knudson C. Cancer Disparities Experienced by People with Disabilities. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2022 Jul 27;19(15):9187. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19159187. PMID: 35954534; PMCID: PMC9367955.
- The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Australian Cancer Plan public consultation. East Melbourne, Vic: RACGP, 2022. Available at: https://www.racgp.org.au/advocacy/reports-and-submissions/view-all-reports-and-submissions/2022-reports-and-submissions/submission-to-cancer-australia-australian-cancer-p